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--- On commencing at 9:02 a.m.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Good morning.  Please be seated.


Mr. Nettleton.


MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.


MR. QUESNELLE:  I don't think there is anything else we have to deal with this morning, other than your argument in-chief.  Go right into it, if you are ready.

Preliminary Matters:


MR. NETTLETON:  All right.  Good morning.


Mr. Chairman, there is only one preliminary matter, and that was the revision to the undertaking J1.2.  We are in the process of making copies right now and I will be able to speak to that in a bit.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.


MR. NETTLETON:  After Mr. Goudy's cross-examination and where he indicated there perhaps were some inconsistencies with the -- not only with the formatting, but with some of the language, we've had a chance to review that.  And I think what has happened is, as Mr. Schneider indicated, the intent Hydro One has is to take the granting clause from the voluntary easement agreement and apply it as close as possible to the form of the expropriation and to have it included in the plan of expropriation.


And I think in that transposition exercise, there were some words that perhaps were not caught and should have been, and, in particular, it is the words "covenants and agreements" found at line 18 of the currently filed version.


Those words would have meaning in the context of a voluntary easement agreement, because there in fact is an agreement and there would be some obligation -- some positive obligations included and negative obligations, more particularly, included in the form of easement.


But obviously here we're only dealing with a situation where there is no agreement, where there is, in fact, a taking.  So the words "covenants and agreements" should be excluded and we are taking steps to make that change.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  I don't know if you plan on dealing with it in your argument this morning, Mr. Nettleton, but I am interested in that particular area of the granting clause as it pertains to the involuntary areas, and it is something you just mentioned, that where there is a voluntary, the covenants remain -- the wording would remain in there because there is an agreement, and that agreement may include things that obviously the applicant and the landowner have worked out as part of the arrangement.


If any of those arrangements and agreed-to items run with the land, how do they -- would they be registered on title, and to the extent that -- put in that same category, if the Board were to provide conditions to its approval of having the applicant expropriate, then if those conditions run with the land, do they end up in the granting clause?


If you are going to deal with that, fine, I won't take you out of context.


MR. NETTLETON:  No.  I think this is precisely why I wanted to have this opportunity to present oral argument, to have this type of discussion, and I am quite happy to do it upfront because it is top of mind.  We're talking about the undertaking now.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.


MR. NETTLETON:  Sir, the legal principle involved here is that there is a taking of an interest in land.  It is a bundle of rights.  It is not the fee entirely.  It is not the full bundle of rights.  It is a limited estate.


The requirement that Hydro One needs is the transfer of that bundle of rights, and it has to vest with Hydro One.  It can't be conditional.  Those rights have to be -- there has to be certainty of the rights that Hydro One requires, and they have to be vesting with Hydro One.


So in an agreement -- in a transfer agreement, there is obviously an agreement.  There is consent amongst the prior owner and the new owner to the transfer occurring.  Once the transfer occurs, the rights are transferred and those rights vest with the new owner.  Here we don't have an agreement, but what we do have is a plan of expropriation that ultimately gets filed and registered with land titles.


So perhaps the best way to consider this is that the plan of expropriation is affecting the transfer of the rights.


So that transfer, that grant has to be one which is unconditional in terms of the interests in lands that Hydro One is requiring -- is taking for purposes of carrying out its undertaking and work.


Now, the issue in a limited estate circumstance, such as an easement, is that there is a difference than in the fee, because there is an unqualified use in a fee circumstance.  In other words, if I take the fee interest, there are no limitations upon what I can do with that fee simple interest.


The qualifications that can occur in a limited estate, though, have to be ones that, as we have used in the vernacular, run with the land.


Those uses or restrictions on use are only ones that can be negative or restrictive to the owner, the new owner, Hydro One.


So the concept in law is that restrictive covenants only run with the land.  Positive covenants do not.  Positive covenants -- that is to say obligations that require Hydro One to take a step to do something, such as erect temporary fences or the like, those are positive covenants.  And the remedy in those circumstances is not forfeiture of the interest in the land that's been transferred, which would obviously be the case if it was a condition.  Instead, the remedy would be damages.


In other words, if there is an agreement or if there is some thing that has been agreed to or that the Board directs Hydro One to do, that recourse is with and through damages for breach of a promise.  But as it relates to the interest in land, the types of restrictions on use are ones that affect -- have to affect the interests that have been the subject of the transfer.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.


MR. NETTLETON:  So, for example, in a pipeline setting, for example, in a crude oil pipeline setting, you can have easements that say you are only allowed to construct one pipeline.  You could also have an easement that would say you can construct multiple pipelines.


You can have an easement that grants even more specificity of the intended use.  That is to say you can only -- I am hereby granting to you the rights to construct, own and operate a crude oil pipeline as opposed to any other type of pipeline, water, gas and the like.  But that affects the use, and it is a restrictive covenant upon the owner, in that it restricts the owner of the easement as to what the use is.


Now, that differs, for example, from a positive covenant that would say, the grant of easement is hereby made on condition that you erect temporary fencing, or on condition that you enter into licences that are in respect of lands that are outside of the easement interest that is the subject of the grant.


Those would not be proper conditions, because -- or covenants because (a) they're positive in nature, and (b) they have no applicability to the lands that are the subject matter of the grant.


MR. QUESNELLE:  What about in the situation - and it is one of the issues that was within the hearing itself in this proceeding - of the appropriateness of decommissioning, the temporal element of this?


What is your applicant's position on that, as far as the -- recognizing that, you know, just hearing what you have just said, does it fit into that same category? 


MR. NETTLETON:  Three thoughts, Mr. Chairman. 


First, my background is one that includes representation of other clients in other forums, including the National Energy Board.  Abandonment is a very significant issue that has come to light in respect of that Board, and it is an issue that is treated industry-wide. 


There are proceedings currently ongoing before the National Energy Board respecting how abandonment should not only be accounted for economically, but what impacts that should have to landowners. 


And the approach that is being taking is really one where the regulatory authority, the National Energy Board, is stepping in under its jurisdiction to import or to look at and examine the public interest of how pipelines should address the issue of abandonment. 


That differs significantly from the current context.  And the evidence in this proceeding has been that here you have a public utility that is indicating that the timeline towards abandonment is over 100 years.


That, again, differs significantly from how the National Energy Board has approached the issue, because there certainly is excess capacity and the abandonment right now of certain pipelines in this country are on the horizon, quite frankly. 


So the issue is now coming to a head.  But again, how the National Energy Board has dealt with it in the past -- and I say "past" like when it first came to light in my era was in 1993, and in fact it was one of Mr. Goudy's firm's clients that raised this issue.  At the time, how the National Energy Board addressed the issue was by saying:  Look, we have an obligation to ensure overall safety.  Pipelines have an obligation to ensure the safe and reliable transportation of product, and to ensure that their operations remain and the integrity of those operations remain intact, and we will ensure -- that is our mandate, is to ensure that. 


It is really on that basis that gradually, over the period of time as the issue has become more and more crystallized, and there is, in fact, now a real prospect of abandonment happening, that the Board's taken on the issue from an industry-wide context. 


I think here, Mr. Chairman, I think -- well, that is point number one. 


Point number two is, as it relates to easements and the granting of an easement, again, the easement grant is for a use of a limited interest. 


If all of the interests that were being expropriated included the fee simple, abandonment, per se, would not be an issue for the holder of the adjacent lands or land interests per se, other than general concern about how this neighbouring property right is being managed. 


But where you have an easement interest, a limited estate, obviously the concern is:  Well, how does that abandonment affect my underlying rights to that land? 


As it concerns the easement, the fact is that there is a limited use, and the limited use is for only the carrying on of the asset, and that when there is an obligation or if there is a circumstance where the use is no longer required, the underlying rights no longer have effect.


But again, the evidence in this proceeding has been is that that is not likely, that the full expectation here where you have a network asset that is being constructed and the asset is being utilized as a network facility, quite different from, say, crude pipelines, the likelihood of abandonment is so remote, it is a question of should it be dealt with now or when it crystallizes. 


MR. QUESNELLE:  But irrespective of one's views of whether or not it is likely or even probable, given your comments on the fact that with an easement taking, it is a limited use, if the facility was not being used for that purpose, then the rights would no longer be enjoyed by your client.  Is that your --


MR. NETTLETON:  Yes.  And I am just quickly finding the proposed easement language, the granting clause, if you would just bear with me for one second. 


MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes.


MR. NETTLETON:  My submission, Mr. Chairman, is, indeed, that the use that we are enjoying is found in part (a):

“To enter and lay down, install, construct, erect, maintain, operate, inspect, add to, enlarge, alter, repair and keep in good condition, move, replace, remove..."


And that is important, "remove".

"...re-install, reconstruct, relocate, supplement and operate, and maintain at all times in through and over the strip."


So the point is that all contemplates a positive use.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes. 


MR. NETTLETON:  And where that use is no longer occurring, there is opportunity for the underlying landowner to say that the easement no longer has effect and steps could be taken with land titles under a separate action to see whether or not that easement should be expunged. 


But here, we are so far away from that activity and here what I think -- from the protection of the landowner, the contemplation is that the rights are intended for a positive use.  And there is an obligation and a right to remove the asset.


That doesn't mean, Mr. Chairman, that if an asset is idle, that it necessarily is not being used for the intended purpose.


Again, back to the pipeline world, it is quite common for pipelines or loops of pipelines to be idle.  And similarly, you know, here, if there was a sky wire where it wasn't being fully utilized or utilized at all if there has been some change in technology, that doesn't necessarily mean the right that has been asked for and is being the subject of this grant would necessarily be expunged, because there could very well be reason for Hydro One to continue to have that right, in order for it to operate its functions in a safe -- to provide safe and reliable transmission service.


But how I would see the issue of abandonment, in my respectful submission, the way that abandonment should be dealt with, if it is going to be dealt with, is in a far more open and oriented process that looks at the question of abandonment generally across the system, across the whole network, and to determine whether and how, or if, you know, it is an issue that the Board needs to be concerned with, particularly –- again, using my experience with the National Energy Board -- particularly as it relates to things such as should there be provisions made for, like, a sinking fund made for that process. 


There are obviously significant economic implications of that task.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  What is driving the Board's interest in this is approaching this, and a legal principle of the minimum footprint, minimum impact, and with any expropriation it should not be any more taking.  And I think that has been agreed to by your client that, in some of your earlier comments, the taking is designed as what is required and there is the temporal element of that.

If the National Energy Board is now turning its mind to that and looking at abandonment in a policy environment, it could be that it is looking at it now because it didn't at the time that the easements were granted.

So to the extent that it is your position that if the use for which the easement was intended no longer is required, then that is a point in time where the rights enjoyed no longer would be applicable.  And if that is the position, I just want to ask you, is that the -- make that clear.  Is that the position of your client at this point?

MR. NETTLETON:  Well, again, I would like to have an opportunity to discuss that specific question with my client, but -- and perhaps that is something we can do in reply argument.

MR. QUESNELLE:  It would be good for the other parties to understand the position going in, I think.

[Mr. Nettleton consults with Hydro One 
representatives.]

MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Schneider is reminding me of the evidence in this proceeding, Mr. Quesnelle, and that is, in part, related to the steps that have to be undertaken in order for an asset to, in fact, be determined to be no longer required, like an easement or like a transmission line.

The IESO has to be involved in that process, and I can't recall -- Mr. Skalski is telling me it is Exhibit B, tab 5, schedule 2, part F.

But the point is that it goes back to the point that I was trying to articulate of saying simply because the asset is there and simply because the line may not be operating to provide 500 kV service, but the tower is still there, there may be a long-term plan.  There may be a long-term need for that easement to provide reliable transmission service to Ontarians in the future.

And that would still be -- in Hydro's respectful submission, it would still contemplate being a use under the easement.  In other words, it is not just simply, if you turn the switch off, the easement's gone.  That is the concern, that when you are planning, again, with a network-type asset, you have to have the flexibility to ensure that you've got the necessary rights to use those rights both now and in the future.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Understood.  Thank you.

MR. NETTLETON:  With that, Mr. Chairman, perhaps I can return to my argument.
^
Submissions by Mr. Nettleton:

MR. NETTLETON:  I am mindful, Mr. Chairman, of the fact that argument in this proceeding is proceeding by way of oral in-chief and written arguments of my friends and reply from us.  In light of that, I have provided my notes to the court reporter in advance, and I would ask that the references and headings I have included in those notes make their way into the transcript without need for me to refer to them in my oral remarks, but if I deviate orally, I would ask that my oral remarks be captured and included in the transcript so that that can be used for the benefit of my friends.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Chairman, I am pleased to provide to you Hydro One's final argument for the authority to expropriate land interests in 57 properties that are required for the purpose of finishing the construction and allow the operation of the Bruce-to-Milton Transmission Reinforcement Project.

The application before you is one that seeks the taking or expropriation of private land interests.  It is an application deserving, therefore, of utmost care and attention.

Hydro One understands the emotion and opposition that applications such as this can inspire.  But the reason why it is necessary for Hydro One to take this step concerns its public interest mandate:  providing for the safe and reliable transmission of electricity to all citizens of Ontario.

So this application requires the Board to balance the interests involved.  It must look at whether the public interest is best served by granting the authorization requested, or, alternatively, whether the application should be denied or whether different interests in land should be the subject matter of the expropriation authorization.

The application before you is extraordinary.  I say this because the relatively small number of takings has been applied for is the subject matter of this application, as compared to the overall number of properties that have been affected by the project, and that is significant.

This really is a reflection of a fundamental change in the policy that Hydro One has implemented, as compared to its predecessor, such that expropriation is now a mechanism of last resort.

Early efforts to voluntarily acquire land rights for the project in advance, and also concurrently with this application, has meant a significant reduction in the number of takings that Hydro One has had to seek Board approval for.

The way that Hydro One has minimized the number of takings that are contained in this application is by its development and adoption of its Land Acquisition Compensation Principles.  The LACP was an incentive program designed in consultation with an intervenor group representing 130 landowners -- or, sorry, properties which covered a broad section of properties, both geographically and in terms of use, farm use and residential uses.

It was designed to apply transparently and consistently to all landowners, to encourage timely property negotiations and to minimize reliance on the expropriation process.

In Hydro One's view, it has succeeded, and this is something that is, again, borne out by the numbers.  Hydro One required land interests over 355 properties -- or has required land interests in over 355 properties and, to date, has achieved an 85 percent acceptance rate on its voluntary program which, indeed, is extraordinary.

That having said, reliance on the LACP voluntary process will soon end after the Board has issued its decision in this proceeding.  That is the plan.  The record shows the property owners have had ample time to consider offers and discuss issues with Hydro One.  Beyond a certain point, expropriation proceedings are necessary.

Now, having expropriation as a last resort is not a bad thing.  There are times when reasonable people can and do disagree, and in these instances the involvement of a third party decision maker such as yourself is helpful.  But in that context, it is important to realize that the LACP was not developed as a "Coles Notes" version to expropriation.  It was developed to avoid expropriation and result in a timely acceptance of offers.

The offer scenarios presented in the LACP are incentive based and do not indicate any expectation of what a third party decision maker might award in terms of compensation.

A final aspect that makes this application extraordinary is despite the fact that the project represents the largest transmission expansion that Hydro One or its predecessor has carried out in over 20 years, and it is seeking now only to expropriate interests across 15 percent or 57 properties, only three landowners have found it necessary to provide evidence in this proceeding, and only two have expressed the need for material changes to be made to the relief that Hydro One is now seeking. 

Now, that comment is, in no way, intended to marginalize the issues that have been raised by the Walfords, the Magwoods or the Bruces.  Instead, it is made to demonstrate and highlight the change that has been achieved from the past, and the page that Hydro One has been successful in turning. 

So with that background context, let me provide you with a roadmap, if I could, for the remainder of my remarks.

I first want to discuss the public interest test which informs this proceeding and which has been applied in other expropriation decisions. 

I will next address property-specific issues that have arisen with the Walfords, Magwoods and the Bruces, and then finally I will attempt to conclude and explain how Hydro One's position relates to the Board's Issues List and ultimately show that it is in the public interest to grant the applied-for expropriation authorization for each of the properties that have been applied for.

Let me turn to the public interest test. ^

Public Interest Test
Legislative Framework


As I noted above, this is a case about balancing public versus private interests.  As the arbiter of this matter, the Board must determine whether the overall public interest favours authorizing the expropriation of land interests which Hydro One claims are necessary so that it may proceed forward with the project, or alternatively, whether a denial or an alteration to the land interests sought by Hydro One should be granted.

From Hydro One's perspective, the starting point of this discussion begins with its statutory mandate of ensuring safe and reliable transmission services.  For any construction, expansion or reinforcement of a transmission line, Hydro One must first apply to the Board for leave to construct pursuant to section 92 of the Ontario Energy Board Act. 

Hydro One did that, and demonstrated that the need for the project -- and demonstrated that the proposed route was preferable as compared to alternatives. 

Hydro One also showed that the Board -- showed the Board that it would negotiate for easements with all affected landowners along the route, and that the terms of the negotiation included adequate compensation for any impact on their property rights.  Those elements were prerequisites to obtaining a leave to construct. 

In addition, Hydro One received a notice of approval to proceed with the project, or the EA approval.  And this was from the Ministry of Environment and the Lieutenant-Governor-in-Council.  This affirms the environmental acceptability of locating the project on lands that are now the subject matter of this application, and the environmental acceptability of the methods proposed by Hydro One to construct and operate the facilities.  Along with the leave to construct, the EA approval affirms that the project is in the public interest. 

This application, which is to say the section 99 application, requires that individual expropriations must also be in the public interest.  And the public interest in this context refers to a broad set of considerations. 

In the Union Gas and Dawn decision of the Ontario Divisional Court, which dealt with an appeal of a Board decision, the decision made comments upon the public interest.  And in its reasons, the court said that, and I quote:

“The words 'in the public interest' ...would seem to leave no room for doubt that it is the broad public interest that must be served."

In considering where the public interest lies in these circumstances, the Board must look to the purpose of Hydro One as a public utility tasked with providing electricity to the public, and consider the purpose of the act, which includes safeguarding the adequacy, reliability and quality of electricity service in the province, as well as the rates that are charged to its ratepayers.

This mandate and this responsibility must be considered relative to site-specific impacts and whether the proposed takings can be done in a better way. 

The final conclusion whether or not the expropriation is in the public interest is not a question of fact or law, but is really an opinion of the Board, whether or not the expropriation of a limited interest should be done in order to allow the public utility to proceed with its approved project.

Hydro One submits that the proposed expropriations in this case are clearly in the public interest.  The project facilities are needed to maintain a safe, reliable and adequate supply of electricity in the province.

The route for this transmission line has already been chosen, construction has commenced, the route is the preferred alternative over other routing alternatives, the rights in the lands requested are an integral part of the completion of the project, and therefore are necessary and in the public interest.
Application of the Public Interest Test to Individual Cases


Let me now turn to the site-specific issues that we heard last week.  Actually, I guess it was not last week, but it was the proceedings both last week and in Orangeville. ^

A.  Walfords – Visual Impacts


With respect to the Walfords' concerns, they began with Mr. Walford's appearance, which was made on behalf of his wife, Mrs. Walford, who is the registered property owner.  Mr. Walford explained that one of the concerns was that their view from their second home would be negatively impacted by an additional tower, given its location relative to their recreational area or swimming pool.

Mr. Walford's counsel expressed the concern that despite Hydro One's general policy of twinning the towers with the existing towers, a visual impact assessment had nevertheless not been taken on the Walford property. 
He proposed a solution, and that was to move the offending tower onto a neighbour's property.  But Mr. Walford also told us this, and I quote:  
"The towers are -- the towers are Hydro's domain.  I haven't personally met Mr. Henriques.  We did not discuss the issue." 

In contrast, Mr. Fawcett told us he spoke with Mr. Henriques, and Mr. Henriques opposes changing the number of towers on his property. 

Mr. Chairman, while Hydro One understands Mr. Walford's concern, it respectfully disagrees with the proposed solution.

Mr. Walford also does not appear to have participated in the EA proceeding.  During the EA process, Hydro One presented the standard practice of twinning towers as a visual impact mitigation measure, and Mr. Walford would have had the opportunity to express concerns about that as it related to his property. 

Last week, Mr. Goudy questioned Mr. McCormick from Hydro One about the communications between the Walfords and Hydro One during the EA process.  And Mr. McCormick told us, and I quote:

“We maintain a very extensive record of consultation, and it would not be difficult to confirm whether there is anything on record. So if they wrote letters, they filled out questionnaires at information centres, they sent e-mails, if there is any telephone communications, all of that will be on record. So we can do that check."

But Mr. Goudy did not request that check, and -- that check of the record of consultation.  He instead commenced a fresh line of questioning, and Hydro One submits that there is a strong inference that this request was not made because the Walfords actually had very minimal communication with Hydro One during the environmental assessment process.

The EA process would have allowed the Walfords to discuss and assess specific visual mitigation measures, and would have placed Hydro One in a better position to discuss visual effects.

Mr. Walford also did not request a visual impact assessment from his property agent, Mr. Alic.  Mr. Walford explained that there was not any real ability to investigate the possibility of a visual impact assessment or shifting one of the tower locations, and that Mr. Alic was only interested in signing a voluntary agreement. 

Mr. Alic told us, however, that while the Walfords were not happy about a second line because of its visual effects, they did not express concern about the placement of the towers, shifting towers or the number of towers on the Henriques' lands.  And the Walfords requested that Mr. Alic provide them with the papers for a voluntary agreement.  It is little wonder, then, that after they said they would sign, that Mr. Alic's dealings with them reflected that fact. 

I want to say something about Mr. Alic's credibility.  
Mr. Goudy's questions the other day seemed to perhaps put it in issue.  Mr. Goudy asked Mr. Alic's notes -- Mr. Goudy asked why Mr. Alic's notes did not reflect all of the detail that Mr. Alic provided in his direct evidence.

But Mr. Alic also explained that his notes were not prepared for litigation purposes.  They were prepared for internal purposes to identify where landowner issues arose.  And Mr. Schneider told us that Mr. Alic was one of his top property agents, with a reputation for offering proactive solutions.

Hydro One submits that his testimony should be accepted as delivered.  I would also suggest that a reasonable explanation that reconciles the competing memories of the Walfords and Mr. Alic is that the Walfords' general concern about impacts crystallized into specific concerns about tower placement and tower distribution after their decision not to sign the voluntary agreement.

I would further suggest that concerns relating to construction practices, abandonment and indemnities all arose as a result of participating in this proceeding.

Ultimately, Hydro One submits that the reasons the Walfords did not discuss visual impact mitigation methods, or other mitigation methods, is because the Walfords did not bring that -- or those concerns to Hydro One's attention during the EA process or with clarity when dealing with Mr. Alic.

Given the lack of prior discussions between the Walfords and Hydro One concerning visual mitigation issues, Hydro One has not had the chance to acquire the detailed property-specific information that would allow it to give context to the Walfords' concerns and respond in a knowledgeable and effective way to their various requests for mitigation measures and accompanying conditions.

It is clear, Mr. Chairman, that the Walfords' issues could have been resolved by way of consultation.  While it is unfortunate that we have to go to a hearing to get to that point, Hydro One is, in fact, prepared to take those consultation steps with the Walfords now.  But, despite this, and to be clear, Hydro One's position is that any approval should not be subject to any consultation conditions.  The record shows that Hydro One has offered the Walfords ample and sufficient public consultation opportunities in the past.  Hydro One ought to be entitled to rely on its standard and approved practices, subject to where it is able to engage in what Mr. Schneider described as a "balancing act" between competing interests.

Mr. Walford has told us what the negative impacts will be to him.  He is concerned about the visual impacts from the swimming pool of the residence.  The Walfords would like to minimize the visual impact on them by moving one of the proposed transmission towers, tower 623, off of their property and onto the property of their neighbour, Mr. Henriques.  But when Mr. Walford presented photographs in the hearing in Orangeville to demonstrate the visual impacts of tower 623, he conceded that those pictures were not taken from the swimming pool area or even from his residence.  Instead, they were taken from the top of a hill and in proximity to tower 623.  Why consideration of the visual impact from this vantage point is not clear at all.

This is particularly so given Mr. Walford's testimony that tower 623, quote, "is on the other side of the house where we spend most of our time", end quote, and that it has less of a visual impact on the house than the other two towers.

The visual impacts from the pool area, therefore, do not seem to justify moving tower 623.  However, Mr. Walford provided another reason when he described the rationale for some of his suggested conditions in his direct evidence.  He said that it wasn't fair for his neighbour to have fewer towers and that an equitable split ought to take place.

Specifically, he described it as "sharing the wealth a little bit".  However, in Hydro One's view, that is not how it goes about designing transmission systems.  And visual impacts do in fact matter, and other viewers in the area besides Mr. Walford may prefer the general policy of twinning towers.  That was why it was incorporated into the Environmental Assessment Mitigation Measures.

If landowners get together, Hydro One is happy to attempt to deviate from twinning to accommodate shifts in tower placement where this is possible.  But Hydro One's policy is being used across the entire system, and deviating from it in these particular circumstances, and unless there is good reason for doing so, is not a fair and equitable approach.

As such, Hydro One submits that the expropriation authorization should be issued for the Walford property as requested and without conditions relating to the number of towers or tower placement.
Granting Clause


Let me turn to the granting clause now, Mr. Chairman.  There may be some repetition here, given our earlier discussion.

I want to briefly discuss undertaking J1.2 that was filed last week.  My friend, Mr. Goudy, raised a good and interesting point during his cross-examination.  Mr. Goudy noted that Hydro One's application and the record does not contain the form of the granting clause.  And why was that?  When Hydro One consulted the Board's filing requirements, there was no requirement to file the form of the granting clause, and past applications have not taken that approach.

The approach taken was the filing of the legal description of the easement and fee and for the expropriation authorization to be based upon that description.

The granting clause for easement interests has been placed in the Plan of Expropriation that must be prepared and registered with the applicable Land Titles Office in accordance with section 9 of the Expropriations Act.  The Plan of Expropriation is, in effect, the instrument that affects the transfer of the land interest to Hydro One such that the interests in land vest with Hydro One and are registered and run with the land.

Now, from undertaking J1.2, Hydro One is relying on virtually the same granting clause language as is used in its voluntary easement agreement.  This makes inherent sense.  The bundle of rights Hydro One requires will not deviate as between a landowner who is willing to exercise a voluntary settlement and one who is not.  The bundle of rights required for the undertaking and work remain the same.

Now, the bundle of rights that Hydro One requires is one which intentionally provides it with flexibility to construct, operate and maintain unspecified types of transmission facilities.  But that's for good reason.  The underlying use of the easement is for the purpose of constructing and operating an electricity transmission network asset.  It is not a stand-alone or discrete transmission line, but, rather, the line is part of a work and undertaking that operates in an integrated manner with all other parts of Hydro One's grid.

For this reason, it would make no sense to limit the granting clause in a manner that may be for, say, a crude oil pipeline, where limitations on the use of the easement is stated for a singular or discrete purpose, such as the operation of one specific line of pipe.  That type of work and undertaking is vastly different from Hydro One's electricity transmission system.

Nor does it make sense to place limitations on the ancillary rights that Hydro One has obtained from all other landowners for the provision of telecommunication services for commercial or non-commercial network purposes through the operation of a sky wire.

Now, Mr. Walford's reasons for limiting the grant to restrict that provision appear to be in order to allow him to seek further compensation based on some interest in the revenues earned from the use of any excess telecommunication service.

What we do not have, though, Mr. Chairman, is any evidence suggesting that the grant of these rights will in some way interfere with the uses which Mr. Walford already enjoys or intends to enjoy.  Instead, the concerns appear to be compensation oriented.

And no one is suggesting, Mr. Chairman, that Mr. Walford will not be afforded the opportunity to fair compensation for all of the rights forming the granting clause.  If Mr. Walford takes a view that the scope of the granting clause is tantamount to, for example, a fee simple interest, and that he should receive compensation based on that assertion - that is to say the valuation of the fee simple rights - he is entitled to make that type of argument and, indeed, will have the opportunity to make that type of argument if and when this matter proceeds before the Ontario Municipal Board.

But returning to the reasonableness of the granting clause, as stated in J1.2, Hydro One sees no logical or evidentiary basis to detract from a principle of uniformity in the form of the granting clause vested for easement interests. 

Doing so ensures administrative efficiencies and predictability in the approaches used to plan both the construction and ongoing maintenance and repair functions across affected properties, and those are elements that are in the public interest.
Construction Conditions


Let me turn to the construction conditions that have been suggested by the Walfords. 

In addition to tower placement, these conditions can be characterized as ones that relate to Hydro One's construction practices, and two more relating to abandonment and indemnity. 

Now, it is somewhat curious that construction conditions have come up in this proceeding.  I say that, Mr. Chairman, because the project has already been through the EA process and that forum considered general construction practices.

This forum today relates to individual impacts and concerns.  And that is not to say that site-specific issues cannot or should not be dealt with in this forum, but dealing with site-specific issues requires evidence to establish why the measures that underpin the EA approval on site-specific -- on a site-specific basis ought to be deviated from.  Something more than Mr. Goudy's observations are required.

For example, consider the request for temporary fencing on the right-of-way.  Hydro One has said that its general practice is to fence the foundation construction area.  There is no evidence on this record to justify expanding that practice to include the right-of-way in total.

There are 175 properties on which construction is underway or pending that do not have that practice applicable to them, and it is not reasonable to create asymmetric construction requirements based only on the suggestion of counsel.

Mr. Goudy also asked Hydro One to make commitments in regards to these suggested construction practices. 

Hydro One did, in fact, make the following specific commitments.

It will strip topsoil by the tower footings and offer it to the Walfords before taking it off-site.


It will power-wash heavy equipment before it enters the site to avoid soil contamination.

But again, what evidence does Mr. Goudy have to support the underlying proposition that Hydro One's existing practices and procedures which give rise to the EA approval do not work, or do not work in the special and unique circumstances of the Walfords? 

There is simply a dearth of any evidence to suggest that Hydro One's practices will cause irreparable damage, or for that matter, any damage. 

Hydro One's preference and general approach, as discussed by both Mr. Schneider and Mr. McCormick, is to directly discuss landowner concerns with affected landowners and find ways to address those concerns to the extent possible.

Doing so requires detailed knowledge about the landowners' property and the potential impacts of the construction and operation of the line on the property. 

While I previously noted Hydro One has had limited opportunities to discuss the concerns that the Walfords are raising, the approach that Hydro One is taking, in my respectful submission, is reasonable and should be allowed to proceed.  There simply, again, is no evidence to suggest that Hydro One's existing practices are lacking.  Construction is being carried out today, and the concerns that seem to be behind the construction conditions simply do not seem to be materializing, at least there is no substantial evidence of this effect. 

I would observe, Mr. Chairman, that the lack of property- and landowner-specific about the Walford property also explains Hydro One's general reluctance to agree that additional conditions are necessary or advisable.

We heard that there are often policy and practicality considerations that may be relevant to many of the conditions, especially as they relate to construction and environmental impacts and mitigation. 

For example, in discussing the possibility of using screen plantings around the Walford property to mitigate visual impacts of the line or concerning water well testing, Mr. McCormick indicated that Hydro One is willing to discuss the Walfords' concerns, but it requires knowledge about the extenuating circumstances on the property before being able to make commitments.

And in any event, the question of where there may be some visual impact that remains, that is a matter that ultimately touches upon compensation.  It is a matter that is embroiled in the concept of injurious affection.  And that is a topic and matter that gets decided through the Ontario Municipal Board proceedings. 

There is a question of fairness here, and fairness towards other similarly affected landowners. 

There is value in applying a common set of principles and there is value in providing incentives to arrive at voluntary agreements, rather than to litigate. 

As an example of where these conditions might be impractical, Mr. Fawcett pointed out that it would be impractical to put down gravel to go around a broken-down vehicle in the rare instances that a breakdown, in fact, did occur.

Does that mean that Hydro One would not be responsible for damages that -- going around a vehicle that had broken down on the gravel road?  No, it doesn't.  It means that Hydro One, if Hydro One causes damages, it will be responsible for those damages.  That's the law. 

I will turn to that point in a minute. 

Given these policy and practicality concerns and given the mitigation measures in the EA that Hydro One will employ, Hydro One urges the Board to reject conditions that have been suggested by the Walfords.  They risk unduly fettering the ability of Hydro One to construct the project in a cost-effective and timely way, and would hamper the effectiveness of future LACP settlement programs is the issue.
Abandonment


Let me turn to abandonment, Mr. Chairman. 

Both Mr. Goudy and Mr. Ross expressed concern about the absence of abandonment conditions, and in particular, about the lack of an abandonment obligation.  And Hydro One's position in this regard is -- has been described as follows.

Number one, it has not applied for abandonment as part of the undertaking approved in the EA or section 92 proceeding.

Secondly, the easements it is applying for are for the purpose of the transmission lines. 

Thirdly, the transmission lines will be part of the network backbone and have an expected life of over 100 years. 

And fourthly, when it is time to decommission the transmission lines, they will be decommissioned to the standards of the day and with the techniques of the day. 

Hydro One accordingly submits that there is no need to augment this practice with conditions.
Indemnity


Turning to indemnity, Mr. Goudy also expressed concern about the lack of an indemnity in favour of the Walfords, and provided -- suggested language as a condition to any approval that the Board might order. 

Hydro One opposes this suggestion, because the indemnity provided was not raised as a concern or issue when the form of easement was filed in the section 92 application, and does not improve the rights the Walfords already have at common law, except with respect to their own negligence.  It is not appropriate, Mr. Chairman, to indemnify the Walfords against their own negligent actions, particularly when that benefit is not provided to other landowners.

Let me explain in a little bit more detail. 

At common law, the Walfords are not responsible to third parties for actions of Hydro One in connection with the project, or incidents arising from the transmission lines installed by Hydro One, unless those incidents directly arise from wrongful acts of the Walfords. 

In fact, the Occupiers' Liability Act provides that a person who enters utility rights of way and corridors shall be deemed to have willingly assumed all risks where the occupier has not expressly permitted entry or where the entry is for the purpose of a recreational activity. 

The proposed indemnity would allow the Walfords to require Hydro One to stand in their shoes if third parties pursue them in relation to the project.  In other words, if parties who have an issue with Hydro One, but have no case against the Walfords because of the way the common law works, nevertheless sue the Walfords, the indemnity puts Hydro One in the line of fire, which is what would happen in the normal course, in any event.  So that part of the indemnity is superfluous.

Hydro One submits that, like other landowners on Hydro One right-of-ways, the Walfords ought to have the rights they hold at common law - not more and not less.

In addition, to impose conditions that are more onerous for the interests that Hydro One is seeking via expropriation than what is stated in the voluntary acquisition forms of agreement, sends the wrong signal.  Is Hydro One supposed to go back and renegotiate its easements so that there is continuity?  Hydro One submits that no public purpose or benefit to Hydro One ratepayers would be served by this expensive and time-consuming step.

The other issue relates to the language applicable to the Walfords.  The clause makes Hydro One responsible for, and I quote:

"all liabilities, damages, claims, suits and actions other than liabilities, damages, claims, suits and actions resulting from the gross negligence or wilful misconduct of the Owner."

The legal distinction in those words is the difference between negligence and gross negligence.  The result is that Hydro One would be responsible for merely negligent acts committed by the Walfords and "arising out of [Hydro One's] Project and its use of the Easement".

That responsibility is not fair to Hydro One, it is not fair to Hydro One's ratepayers, and it is not fair to other landowners along the right-of-way who do not receive the same protection.  And if the clause were tweaked to replace "gross negligence" with "negligence", we would have an indemnity that does nothing more than provide the Walfords the right that they have at common law.

So Hydro One submits that the Board must have regard for the facts and the evidence in this case.  Hydro One has used this form of easement across the entire project.  People have accepted its form and terms and have had no issues with relying on their common law right.  The Walfords in fact never raised this as an issue in discussions with Hydro One's property agent or the section 92, or in the EA proceedings.

There is absolutely no evidence to demonstrate that Hydro One has acted in some heavy handed or improper way by not taking responsibility for its conduct, and no reason to impose conditions that are unnecessary and not justified by the factual record.
B.  Magwood


Let me turn to the Magwoods.  We heard from Mr. Magwood during the Orangeville proceedings and Hydro One has heard, and understands, the Magwoods' concerns.  The Magwoods have farmed their property for several generations and are mindful of past expropriations and practices used by Ontario Hydro where they felt their concerns were not acknowledged or addressed.

The Magwoods wish to ensure that they are adequately compensated for any present expropriation and want to ensure that any impacts are appropriately mitigated.  These are real and important issues.  However, as they relate to determining compensation, they are not relevant for this hearing.

Mr. Magwood explained that Ontario Hydro, many years ago, let him understand that there would be no further transmission expansions because the "corridor was full".


While Hydro One is sympathetic to what must come across as a policy reversal that will affect Mr. Magwood's day-to-day operations, Ontario's land planning policy is to make use of existing corridors where possible.  That policy formed part of the route screening criteria used by Hydro One and explicitly underpins its section 92 approval.

This is a classic case of the public interest butting up against private interests.  The transmission line in question has already been found to be in the public interest, and the route was selected on the basis of it following the existing corridor.

It was clear in listening to Mr. Magwood that a good deal of his discomfort with the project stems from a deep distrust of Hydro One.  However, much of this distrust seems to be the result of past practices undertaken by Ontario Hydro and not Hydro One.

In Mr. Magwood's eyes, the difference between these companies may be in name only.  In fairness, Hydro One has adopted completely separate practices and policies from those of Ontario Hydro, which were in fact designed to address many of the concerns about trustworthiness that Mr. Magwood has raised.

Unless Mr. Magwood can find fault in Hydro One's consultation, compensation and construction practices, these concerns are not, respectfully, relevant to this proceeding.

Mr. Magwood also expressed concern about the property agent assigned to his property by Hydro One.  Hydro One regrets that lack of trust, but believes it to be the exception and not the norm.

There were also three specific interactions between Mr. Magwood and Hydro One that Mr. Magwood spoke to.  The first was the violation of Mr. Magwood's "biosecurity zone".  In Hydro One's view, the violation was an honest mistake that any utility or any person could have made.  Hydro One also expressed its regrets in the form of a response about from a senior vice-president when informed of the nature of the issue.

The second interaction was a meeting in January 2010 between Mr. Magwood and Hydro One and, indeed, myself, which Mr. Magwood in fact described positively.

And the third interaction, again, following from the second, related to the assessment of his property and the delay in completing and transmitting four of the property reports to him.  The assessor promised them in late March, and Hydro transmitted them in early June.  While that approximately ten-week delay is regrettable, it is not egregious, particularly in circumstances where you are constructing a project over 355 properties.

In summary, none of these incidents represents conduct that ought to affect whether the applied-for taking is in the public interest.

Turning to the appropriateness of the lands for which expropriation has been requested, Mr. Magwood's counsel expressed concern that the extent of the expropriation requested includes the ability to lease extra fibreoptic capacity to third parties, which is not necessary for the purpose of the expropriation.

It should be emphasized here that the presence of fibreoptic cable does not affect in any way the extent of lands required to be expropriated.  If a fibreoptic cable can also be used to generate revenue that directly benefits the ratepayer and does not affect the taking, it is not clear how this is relevant to the expropriation of the land interests in question.

Moreover, the extent to which a landowner should be compensated for expropriation of the land for the purpose of a powerline, versus expropriation of land for the purpose of a powerline coupled with potentially spare fibreoptic transmission capacity, is, as I have mentioned before, best left to be a compensation issue within the jurisdiction of the Ontario Municipal Board.

Finally, in terms of minimizing the disruption of the project on the subject properties, Mr. Magwood has described the operational difficulty of the applied-for right-of-way given the disturbance of farming efficiencies.

Notably, Mr. Magwood has not discussed alternative means in which the transmission line could be constructed in order to minimize the impact on his property.  He simply states that locating the transmission line on his property will affect his ability to efficiently farm on them.

Interference with farming efficiencies, again, can be compensated through the head of injurious affection.  Again, it is not a proper issue to consider in a section 99 expropriation hearing.
C.  Bruces


With respect to the Bruces, Mr. Chairman, the Bruces' concerns in this hearing boil down to seeking a full buyout of their property beyond what Hydro One offered to them under the LACP.

Mr. Schneider for Hydro One was very clear over a week ago when he described the applicability and rationale behind the LACP and why it is an incentive program.  It is intended to go beyond what landowners would be entitled to at law in order to encourage them to settle early. 

Hydro One has offered to buy all of the Bruces' property, consistent with the LACP, but the Bruces have refused.  Hydro One has, therefore, applied to expropriate the minimum interest necessary.  The Bruces object and want Hydro One to apply to expropriate their entire interest.  Hydro One has responded that it will not do that, because the law compels it to take the minimum interest necessary.  My friend Mr. Waque has asserted that there are special circumstances that justify taking a larger interest.  Hydro One is sympathetic, but respectfully disagrees.  And let me explain these points in greater detail. 

Where does the obligation to take the minimum interest necessary come from?  It comes from well-understood expropriation principles.  Here is what you, the Board, had to say about the issue the last time Hydro One applied to expropriate interests for a powerline^.  Quote:  
"...in the majority of cases the best footprint is the smallest footprint."

The same argument for expanding the taking was also made in that case, that is to say the Toyota decision. 

In rejecting it, the Board recognized that financial compensation could compensate for inconvenience.  Quote:

“[W]hile there is inevitably an interference with private property rights when expropriation occurs, the Applicant has pursued the appropriate process in determining the route, and has made efforts to minimize the disruption to the farm operations by requesting easements that are no larger than necessary.  As noted previously, any inconvenience affecting commercial farm operations can be compensated for financially."

The minimum taking is the starting point, and that comes from section 7(5) of the Expropriations Act, which requires expropriations to be "fair, sound, and reasonably necessary."  The key word is "necessary". 

It is in the interests of the state not to expropriate more than it needs to.  This is not only to reduce the impact of expropriation on landowners from whom land is expropriated, but to limit the cost of the expropriation to taxpayers or ratepayers.  It also allows for the lands to be put to a useful purpose, which they would not be if they were expropriated by Hydro One and left idle.  This is why expropriations throughout this province have almost always been in the form of easements, rather than fee simple interests. 

Hydro One's practice is to apply for a fee simple taking in very limited circumstances.  Those are, as we've heard, where there is a primary residence or a major farm structure on the property that will have to be removed due to safety and reliability concerns.  This practice, again, reflects the law.  It would be unreasonable to expect landowners to literally rebuild in the same location where the heart of their activities on the property has been physically removed.  Exceptional circumstances, akin to the sterilization of the activities on the property, are required before Hydro One will apply for something other than an easement interest. 

Hydro One does not support an interpretation of the law that would, instead, expand eligibility for a full-parcel taking by considering the cumulative weight of potential inconveniences.  As I will discuss in a minute, that is what the Bruces are proposing, and the practical and administrative consequences for Hydro One would be severe.  There would be a floodgate effect, where in any given expropriation, Hydro One would have to determine whether or not certain impacts merit full-parcel taking applications, and then defend that choice before the Board.  The expropriation process would be expanded, and in some cases duplicated.  That procedure and the Bruces' position are entirely inconsistent with this Board's view in the Toyota decision that, again, “...in the majority of cases the best footprint is the smallest footprint."

Let me discuss the Bruces' position and their evidence directly now.  They are suggesting that for any expropriation of their land to be fair, sound and reasonably necessary, it must cover the entirety of their property, of their parcel, as opposed to only those portions that are required for the project.

The evidence that they have led in support consists of Mrs. Bruce's testimony about two things.  First, the construction impacts on her current herd of 240 milking goats, and second, the impairment of the project on the Bruces' future expansion plans. 

Let me turn to the first concern briefly.

Construction impacts can be minimized through construction mitigation measures.  Those impacts that do occur and adversely affect the current operation can also be compensated on an economic basis.  That would not be -- there would not be any sterilization of the Bruces' farm, and no reason to depart from the Toyota principle of only applying for an easement. 

Dealing with the second concern, last week we received a look at the Bruces' future expansion plans, and we heard testimony from Mr. MacDonald about a desktop study conducted after he was denied access to the Bruce's farm. 

What we learned tells us that the current operation can continue after the project.  The current operation can expand after the project.  The project impacts can be compensated for with monetary compensation, and nothing will be sterilized by the project.

On that basis, again, there is no reason, in my respectful submission, to depart from the Toyota approach and require Hydro One to expropriate the Bruces' full parcel.

Let me explain how what we learned supports those conclusions. 

Mrs. Bruce told us that Bruceview Farms began as a hobby farm with 80 milking goats, and has since grown to 240 milking goats.  She explained her daily routine and the preference to keep the building locations as they are.  She explained that the expansion they contemplated, given the extra capacity in the bank barn, would not require moving the existing building locations. 

That expansion would take place in the project corridor, and if the project proceeds, the expansion cannot take place as contemplated. 

Mrs. Bruce also confirmed that the impacts she was concerned about could be compensated for economically. 

In turn, Mr. MacDonald told us that this was the first time he had learned that there was additional bank barn capacity, and that it was all right to have dry animals away from the milking animals.  His desktop analysis did not and could not have taken that information into account. 

However, Mr. MacDonald explained that a wide variety of factors, including minimum distance separation, or MDS, would affect how any expansion would proceed.  In his view, a 1,000-goat operation was possible after the project, but not with the same building configuration.  And he explained that the demands of a larger operation might, in any event, change how the Bruces ultimately go about their expansion plans. 

For example, the increased traffic from quadrupling the size of the operation might make increasing the distance between the house and the other facilities desirable. 

The need for proximity by Mrs. Bruce between the house and the bank barn might go away entirely if she required to hire help to take over her duties, given that it is unlikely that her current schedule will be able to meet the needs of four times as many goats. 

Mr. MacDonald also outlined technical options that the Bruces had available to them to alternatives to their present plan, such as windbreaks, electric ventilation and skylights.

And his report notes that in any event, the market conditions for goat milk might not support an expansion. 

Recall his evidence that suggests that today the milk market, the goat milk market, is in an oversupply condition.

In light of what Mr. MacDonald's evidence, what Mrs. Bruce's evidence boils down to is that their expansion will have to take place in a different way than they have presently planned.  It is important to note that their plans are not yet ripe.  For example, they need their engineering design finalized, and market conditions, again, may affect their timing, but there is no dispute that in some way the farm is able to expand.

This is, in my respectful submission, Mr. Chairman, more of a compensation issue than any other type of issue.  The Bruces' position is that the impacts that the project will have on their property are so extensive that Hydro One should be required to take the whole thing.

The Bruces have not met that test here with the evidence that they have placed on the record.  And the Ontario Municipal Board is the proper forum to determine what amount of compensation is appropriate for those inconveniences that do result to the Bruces' farm from the project.

If the Bruces show that the injurious affection on their remaining interest in land is so extensive that compensation should equal the full value of the property, then so be it.  But this remedy will be available to them at that time, and they should not be permitted to take two kicks at the same can by arguing what amounts to injurious affection here as well.
Conclusion


MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Chairman, let me turn to my conclusions, and I have summarized these, taking into account the six issues that were set out in the Board's issues list.  Turning to the first issue:
"To the extent that the public interest has not already been considered in the Board's decision in Board File No. EB-2007-0050, are the proposed expropriations in the public interest?"


The short answer is yes.  Hydro One submits that its application, and the record, demonstrates that the applied-for takings are necessary for the project to proceed and are in the public interest.  No party has suggested that there is a way to avoid taking up interests in their lands that would nevertheless permit the project to be considered.

The issues raised in this proceeding rightly relate to the details of those takings and not the fundamental question of whether they should occur.

Number two -- sorry.  Let me just make sure I said that correctly.  I said:
"1.  No party has suggested that there is a way to avoid taking up interests in their lands that would nevertheless permit the project to be constructed."

I think I said "considered".

The issues raised in this proceeding rightly relate to the details of those takings and not the fundamental questions of whether they should occur.

Turning to the second issue:
"2.  What specific interests in lands for which the authorization to expropriate is requested are appropriate in these circumstances?"

Hydro One is seeking to expropriate interests in 57 properties.  From those properties, only the Bruces have expressed clear concerns that the interest applied for is inappropriate.

Mr. Chairman, Hydro One's position is that in these circumstances the minimal taking is the approach that this Board ought to prefer and not the taking that might provide the landowner with the best deal.  The appropriate interests are those applied for.

Number three:
"3.  Has Hydro One taken appropriate and reasonable steps to minimize the impact of the proposed expropriations on the subject properties?"

Again, the short answer is yes.  We heard about Hydro One's practices from Mr. McCormick and Mr. Fawcett.  We know that Hydro One will mitigate the effects of the project.  Hydro One understands the apprehensions that the Magwoods have expressed in light of their history with Ontario Hydro, but the record does not show that inappropriate or unreasonable steps are likely to be taken by Hydro One.  Certainly Mr. Goudy has not shown that in this proceeding through the evidence that he has filed.
"4.  Has Hydro One taken appropriate steps to minimize the disruption to landowners by requesting easements that are no larger and no more extensive than necessary?"

The answer, again, is yes.  Mr. Chairman, ironically no one is saying that the applied-for easements are too big.  Mrs. Walford's counsel did have questions about things like whether the 53-metre corridor separation was necessary, and confirmed that it was required so that helicopters could fly between the lines.  But the debate boils down to conditions on the part of the Magwoods and the Walfords, and bigger takings on the part of the Bruces.

The fifth issue:
"5.  Does Hydro One's plan, if any, for the abandonment of the Project facilities include appropriate and reasonable measures taken to minimize any impact on the specific properties proposed for expropriation?"

Mr. Chairman, I referred to this just a moment ago and it is fresh in our minds:  Hydro One has a simple and straightforward position of complying with the standards of the day, to decommission powerlines when they are no longer needed.

The sixth issue is:
"6.  If approval to expropriate lands is granted, what conditions, if any, should be attached to the Board's Order?"

So we're back to where we started.  As described previously, Hydro One's position is that no conditions should be attached to the Board's order.

The granting clause for the expropriation of an easement interest is consistent with the granting clause found in the voluntary easement agreement, as one would expect.  This approach reflects the network nature of the work and undertakings, and consistency in the granting clause should be maintained across all similarly affected properties.

The operational restrictions would be unduly restrictive and provide limited utility in light of the practices approved as part of the EA process.

The proposed indemnity is not useful and is unfair.

Any telecommunication condition, with respect, has no bearing on the public interest relative to transmission lines.

So in conclusion, Mr. Chairman, the evidence shows that the expropriating -- shows that expropriating the land interests in question is in the public interest.  The Project is needed to maintain a safe, reliable and adequate supply of electricity in the Province, and the rights in the lands requested are necessary to complete the Project and therefore necessary in the public interest.

Therefore, the broader public interests of securing reliable supply of power in the Province outweighs the private interests of the landowners affected by the easements requested.

For those reasons, the expropriation of the lands in the public interest -- are in the public interest and should be allowed.

I want to turn, lastly, to a point concerning the remarks, Mr. Chairman, that you made about conditions, and, in particular, the interest that you expressed over conditions that may attach to a transfer document, such as a plan of expropriation.

As we understand the process -- and I guess this also goes back to your comments that you asked us to provide on Friday.  The process that we see happening or the process that has been developed in the past has been one where a section 99 application is made.  There is a description of the land interest, the interest in land that we are seeking to expropriate, and the application is determined as to whether or not that authorization to expropriate is granted or not.  It is black or white.

Subsequently, Hydro One, pursuant to the Expropriations Act, goes about and prepares a plan of expropriation.  Again, that plan of expropriation is where the granting clause language has found itself, typically.

That plan is then, as we mentioned on Friday, submitted to the Board for certification, and the certification that is provided is certification for the benefit of the Land Titles Office that says that, yes, you agree that the authorization that you granted is consistent with the taking that is expressed in this reference plan.  That's the step that you are taking when you certify that plan.

This presents the need for some further elaboration, then, on the question that you raised, or I am anticipating you asking me, about:  In the event that the Board should find conditions are necessary, where should they go?

MR. QUESNELLE:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. NETTLETON:  And in my respectful submission, Mr. Chairman, the only conditions that can go in the granting clause are ones that affect the use of the land or the easement; in other words, a narrowing or a broadening of the taking that has been asked for, or -- and, in any event, they can only affect the lands, the interests in lands, that are the subject matter of the grant.

If you are going to place conditions -- sorry.  That is point number 1.

Point number 2 is they cannot be in the form of a positive covenant.  They cannot be in the form of requiring Hydro One to do something.  That would be a form -- that would be a positive covenant, and it's -- the concern here is that Land Titles Office would not look at that as being something that could vest and be registered, because it would not run with the land. 


That does not mean, though, Mr. Chairman, that if the Board is of the view that the public interest is served by having conditions attached that would require Hydro One to take some effort to do something more, you have the ability under your general powers to issue decisions that could direct Hydro One to take steps, to do things. 


You could provide direction to Hydro One to encourage that it carry out and continue to consult with landowners, consult with the Walfords, attempt to address their concerns, and file a report that indicated that those steps, in fact, were taking place.


That is something that you could do under your own jurisdiction, under the Board's jurisdiction, and as a direction found in your own order. 


But that is quite separate and apart from what you would find in the interest in the grant that would be the subject matter of the plan of expropriation. 


MR. QUESNELLE:  That's helpful. 


MR. NETTLETON:  I hope that is helpful.


MR. QUESNELLE:  It is, very much so.  Thank you, Mr. Nettleton.


MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you. 

Procedural Matters:


MR. QUESNELLE:  I neglected before we started this morning to take appearances, so the Board will note the appearances of Mr. Millar for Board Staff and Mr. Nettleton for Hydro One.


And I was also going to ensure that we had the dates for the intervenors or the landowners.  The date for their submissions, I believe, is next Monday, which is the 29th, I believe.


MR. MILLAR:  Yes.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Then it would be the following Monday for reply, or final reply from Hydro One.  I believe that is the case.


MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  I believe so, Mr. Chair.


Currently, it's due -- the Procedural Order No. 6 states it is due Thursday, December 2nd. 


So it could either go to Friday, but Monday is -- I assume Monday is better for Hydro One, and if you have no objection, then it would be Monday the -- is it the 6th or the 5th?


MR. QUESNELLE:  No.  I think that is what we suggested.  It would be the --


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So whatever the Monday is.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes.  The Monday following what we had originally put out in the Procedural Order. 


So if there is no other business today -- Mr. Nettleton?  Sorry.


MR. NETTLETON:  I now have copies of the revised undertaking, and I would like to have those filed for the record.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Great.  Thank you very much. 


MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you. 


MR. QUESNELLE:  Do we need an exhibit --


MR. MILLAR:  If it is a revised undertaking, I don't think we need an exhibit.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you very much.


MR. NETTLETON:  Just to be clear, it will be placed on RES; is that correct, Mr. Millar?


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, if you could refile it through the system.


MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you very much. 


And thank you, today, Mr. Nettleton, for your coming in.  I believe it was of use to do this orally, yes. 


MR. NETTLETON:  One last thing.  I would be remiss in not thanking the court reporter and staff for their assistance in this matter.  The services, as usual, have been excellent.  Thank you. 


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you very much.  Duly noted.


All right.  No other business today?  Thank you very much, again.  Anything else, Mr. Millar? 


MR. MILLAR:  No, sir.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you. 


--- Whereupon the hearing concluded at 10:37 a.m.
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